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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

CASE NO. 

 

 

SERGIO MAXIMILIANO, on behalf of himself  

and all others similarly situated,  

 

 Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC 

a Delaware Limited Liability Company,   

 

 Defendant. 

_________________________________________/ 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

 

1.  On behalf of himself and the putative class, Plaintiff alleges violations of the Fair 

Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §1692 et seq. (“FDCPA”).  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has jurisdiction under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. §1331 and 15 U.S.C. §1692k.  

3. Venue in this District is proper because Plaintiff resides here and Defendant 

conducts business in this District. 

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff, Sergio Maximiliano (“Plaintiff”), is a natural person, and a resident of the 

State of Florida, residing in Palm Beach County, Florida. 

5. Defendant, Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC (“Defendant”), is a Delaware 

Limited Liability Company engaged in the business of collecting consumer debts, which operates 

from offices located at 120 Corporate Boulevard, Norfolk, Virginia 23502.   
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6. Defendant regularly uses the United States Postal Service and telephone in the 

collection of consumer debts. Defendant is registered in the State of Florida as a consumer 

collection agency, license number CCA0900382. 

7. Defendant regularly collects or attempts to collect consumer debts for other parties.  

Defendant is a “debt collector” as defined by the FDCPA. 

8. At all times material to the allegations of this Complaint, Defendant was acting as 

a debt collector with respect to the collection of Plaintiff’s alleged debt. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

9. Defendant sought to collect a consumer debt from Plaintiff arising from an alleged 

delinquency on a debt Defendant purchased from Capital One Bank (USA) N.A. when the debt 

was in default. The debt was from a Capital One Bank (USA) N.A.  credit card that was not used 

for any commercial purpose.  The debt was incurred primarily for personal, household or family 

use. 

10. On or about December 16, 2016, Capital One Bank mailed, or caused to be mailed 

to Plaintiff, a letter stating that Plaintiff’s debt “was acquired by Portfolio Recovery Associates, 

LLC, on or about December 15, 2016.” (The “Assignment Letter” attached hereto as “Exhibit 1”). 

11. On or about January 10, 2017, Defendant mailed, or caused to be mailed to Plaintiff, 

a letter stating it purchased Plaintiff’s alleged debt. (The “Letter” is attached hereto as “Exhibit 

2”).  

12. The Letter states in part:  

The purpose of this letter is to advise you that PORTFOLIO RECOVERY 

ASSOCIATES, LLC purchased the account referenced above on 12/20/2016.   

      

     xxxx 
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Call our toll free number 1-800-772-1413 to discuss your 

account.  

 

(emphasis in original). 

 

    xxxx 

  

PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC purchased this 

account on 12/20/2016.  Unless you notify this office within 30 days 

after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt 

or any portion thereof, this office will assume this debt is valid.  If 

you notify this office in writing within 30 days from receiving this 

notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion 

thereof, this office will obtain verification of the debt or obtain a 

copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such judgment or 

verification.  If you request this office in writing within 30 days after 

receiving this notice, this office will provide you with the name and 

address of the original creditor if different from the current creditor.  

 

    xxxx 

 

This communication is from debt collector, but is not an attempt 

to collect a debt.  

 

(emphasis in original).      

     

 

13. The Letter was Defendant’s initial communication with Plaintiff with respect to the 

debt alleged therein.  

14. 15 U.S.C. §1692g(a) states: 

   Validation of debts. 

 

(a) Notice of debt; contents.  Within five days after the initial 

communication with a consumer in connection with the 

collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, unless the 

following information is contained in the initial 

communication or the consumer has paid the debt, send the 

consumer a written notice containing- 

 

(1) the amount of the debt; 

 

(2) the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed;  
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(3) a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days 

after receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the 

debt, or any portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to 

be valid by the debt collector; 

 

(4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt 

collector in writing within the thirty-day period that the 

debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, the debt 

collector will obtain verification of the debt or a copy of 

a judgment against the consumer and a copy of such 

verification or judgment will be mailed to the consumer 

by the debt collector; and 

 

(5) a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request 

within the thirty-day period, the debt collector will 

provide the consumer with the name and address of the 

original creditor, if different from the current creditor.  

 

(emphasis added). 

 

15. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10-11) states: 

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any 

debt.  Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the 

following conduct is a violation of this section: 

xxxx 

(10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information 

concerning a consumer.  

 

(11)  The failure to disclose in the initial written communication 

with the consumer and, in addition, if the initial communication with 

the consumer is oral, in that initial oral communication, that the debt 

collector is attempting to collect a debt and that any information 

obtained will be used for that purpose, and the failure to disclose in 

subsequent communications that the communication is from a debt 

collector, except that this paragraph shall not apply to a formal 

pleading made in connection with a legal action.  

16. Section 559.715, Florida Statutes states: 

Assignment of consumer debts.—This part does not prohibit the 

assignment, by a creditor, of the right to bill and collect a consumer 

debt.  However, the assignee must give the debtor written notice of 
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such assignment as soon as practical after the assignment is made, 

but at least 30 days before any action to collect the debt.  The 

assignee is a real party in interest and may bring an action to collect 

a debt that has been assigned to the assignee and is in default.  

 

17. Defendant’s Letter is misleading and confusing as the Letter states Defendant is not 

attempting to collect a debt.  However, the Letter also gives the Plaintiff the “Verification Notice” 

required by 15 U.S.C. § 1692g, which, by statute, is only to be given to the consumer within 5 

days of the initial communication in connection with the collection of any debt.   

18. The Letter states Defendant is not attempting to collect a debt, yet the Letter also 

instructs, in bold font, the Plaintiff call its toll free number to discuss Plaintiff’s account.  

Defendant’s statement that it is not attempting to collect a debt is overshadowed and contradicted 

by Defendant’s instruction for Plaintiff to call to discuss the alleged debt, and by providing 

Plaintiff the validation notice only required within 5 days of an initial communication in an 

attempt to collect a debt.  

19. Any potential bona fide error defense which relies upon Defendant’s mistaken 

interpretation of the legal duties imposed upon it by the FDCPA would fail as a matter of law.   

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

 

20. This action is brought on behalf of a Class consisting of (i) all persons with 

addresses in the State of Florida (ii) to whom initial communication letters were mailed, delivered 

or caused to be mailed or delivered by Defendant relating to debts purchased while in default from 

Capital One Bank (USA) N.A.  (iii) that contained the Verification Notice required by 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692g(a) and contained the language “This communication is from a debt collector, but is 

not an attempt to collect a debt.” (iv) that were not returned undeliverable by the U.S. Post 

Office (v) in an attempt to collect a debt incurred for personal, family, or household purposes (vi) 
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during the one year period prior to the filing of the original Complaint in this action through the 

date of certification. 

21. Plaintiff alleges on information and belief that Defendant’s practice of mailing or 

causing to be mailed initial communication letters that included the verification notice required 

by 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a) and also contained the language “This communication is from a debt 

collector, but is not an attempt to collect a debt.” mailed to the Class in an attempt to collect 

on a debt purchased by Defendant from Capital One Bank (USA) N.A. while in default is so 

numerous that joinder of all members of the Class is impractical.   

22. There are questions of law or fact common to the Class.  The common issues 

predominate over any issues involving only individual Class members.  The common legal and 

factual issue to each Class member is that each was mailed or caused to be mailed an initial 

communication letter by Defendant relating to a debt purchased by Defendant from Capital One 

Bank (USA) N.A. while in default that included the verification notice required by 15 U.S.C. § 

1692g(a) and also contained the language “This communication is from a debt collector, but 

is not an attempt to collect a debt.”   

23. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the Class members.  All are based on the 

same facts and legal theories. 

24. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.  He has retained 

counsel experienced in handling actions involving unlawful practices under the FDCPA and Class 

actions. Neither Plaintiff nor his counsel have any interests which might cause them not to 

vigorously pursue this action. 

25. Certification of the Class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure is also appropriate in that: 
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(1) The questions of law or fact common to the members of the 

class predominate over any questions affecting an individual 

member. 

(2) A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair 

and efficient adjudication of the controversy. 

26. Plaintiff requests certification of a Class under Rule 23(b)(3), of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure, for monetary damages; his appointment as Class Representative; and that his 

attorney Leo W. Desmond be appointed Class Counsel. 

COUNT I  

VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) 

 

27. Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 19. 

28. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a), within 5 days of an initial communication in 

connection with the collection of a debt or within the initial communication, the Defendant must 

provide the Plaintiff with: 

(a) Notice of debt; contents.  

 

Within five days after the initial communication with a 

consumer in connection with the collection of any debt, a debt 

collector shall, unless the following information is contained in 

the initial communication or the consumer has paid the debt, 

send the consumer a written notice containing- 

 

(1) the amount of the debt; 

 

(2) the name of the creditor to whom the debt is owed;  

 

(3) a statement that unless the consumer, within thirty days after 

receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt, or any 

portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt 

collector; 

 

(4) a statement that if the consumer notifies the debt collector in 

writing within the thirty-day period that the debt, or any portion 

thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain verification of 

the debt or a copy of a judgment against the consumer and a copy 
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of such verification or judgment will be mailed to the consumer 

by the debt collector; and  

 

(5) a statement that, upon the consumer’s written request within the 

thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the consumer 

with the name and address of the original creditor, if different 

from the current creditor. 

 

(emphasis added). 

 

29. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) states: 

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any 

debt.  Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the 

following conduct is a violation of this section: 

xxxx 

(10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to 

collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information 

concerning a consumer.  

30. Defendant mailed or caused to be mailed the Letter to Plaintiff that contained the 

verification notice required to be given to consumers in the initial communication or within 5 days 

thereof in connection with the collection of a debt. 

31. Defendant’s Letter also states it “is not an attempt to collect a debt.” (emphasis 

in original).  

32. Defendant’s Letter is misleading and confusing and therefore in violation of 15 

U.S.C. § 1692e(10) as it contains the verification notice which is only to be given in a 

communication in connection with the collection of a debt and contains contradictory language 

stating that Defendant is not attempting to collect a debt. Pursuant to the FDCPA, the verification 

notice is to be given only in the initial communication or within 5 days of the initial 

communication in connection with the collection of a debt between the debt collector and the 

consumer. 

Case 9:17-cv-80342-RLR   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/15/2017   Page 8 of 11



9 

 

33. Defendant’s Letter is misleading and confusing and therefore in violation 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1692e(10), as the statement that Defendant is not attempting to collect a debt is misleading and 

contradicted by its instruction that the Plaintiff call Defendant to discuss the alleged debt.   

34. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award 

of statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

35. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award 

of costs and attorney’s fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

COUNT II  

VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11) 

 

36. Plaintiff re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 19 and Paragraphs 27 through 33.  

37. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11) the Defendant must disclose to the Plaintiff: 

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any 

debt.  Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, the 

following conduct is a violation of this section: 

xxxx 

(11) The failure to disclose in the initial written communication with 

the consumer and, in addition, if the initial communication with the 

consumer is oral, in that initial oral communication, that the debt 

collector is attempting to collect a debt and that any information 

obtained will be used for that purpose, and that the failure to disclose 

in subsequent communications that the communication is from a 

debt collector, except that this paragraph shall not apply to a formal 

pleading made in connection with a legal action.  

38. Defendant mailed or caused to be mailed the Letter to Plaintiff that acted as an 

initial communication with regard to the collection of a debt as Defendant included the 

verification notice required by 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a) in the Letter. 

39. The verification notice is to be given within 5 days after the initial communication 

with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt or within the initial communication 

itself.   

Case 9:17-cv-80342-RLR   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/15/2017   Page 9 of 11



10 

 

40. Defendant’s Letter is the initial communication between Defendant and the 

consumer Plaintiff.  Defendant has violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11) as Defendant did not include 

the disclosures required by 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11), by stating “that the debt collector is attempting 

to collect a debt and that any information obtained will be used for that purpose[.]” 

41. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award 

of statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

42. As a result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award 

of costs and attorney’s fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

 

 

JURY DEMAND 
 

Plaintiff requests a trial by jury. 

 

 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

 

            WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for the following relief: 

 

a. An Order certifying the FDCPA matter as a Class Action and appointment of 

Plaintiff as Class Representative; 

b. An Order appointing Leo W. Desmond as Class Counsel; 

c. An award of statutory damages for Plaintiff and the Class pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§1692k for all Class claims; 

d. An award of attorney’s fees, litigation expenses and costs of the instant suit; 

and 
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e. Such other and further relief as the Court deems proper. 

Dated: March 15, 2017   

      Respectfully submitted, 

 

By:/s/ Leo W. Desmond 

Leo W. Desmond, Esq. 

DESMOND LAW FIRM, P.C. 

Florida Bar No. 0041920 

5070 Highway A1A 

 Suite D 

 Vero Beach, Florida 32963 

      Telephone: 772.231.9600 

      Facsimile: 772.231.0300 

      lwd@desmondlawfirm.com 

      Attorney for Plaintiff 
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Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded. 

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet. 
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Southern District of Florida

Sergio Maximiliano

Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC

Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC
c/o Corporation Service Company (Registered Agent)
1201 Hays Street
Tallahassee, FL 32301

Leo W. Desmond, Esq.
Desmond Law Firm, P.C.
5070 Highway A1A
Suite D
Vero Beach, FL 32963
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

0.00
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Capital One Services, LLC 
PO. Box 30285 
Salt Lake City, LIT 84130-0285 

SERGIO MAXIMIUANO 69678 

6659 ALISO AVE H!.1Z 

WEST PALM FL 33413 

Dear SERGIO MAXIMILIANO, 
u. 
o 

Portfolio Recovery 
Associates, llC now owns 
your account 

December 16, 2016 

Re: Account Number: 4862368809673981 
Capital One 

We wanted to you know about a change to your credit account referenced above. Your credit 
card account with a balance of $1,234.23 was acquired by Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC on or 
about December 15,2016. Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC now owns your account and may 
contact you either directly or through an affiliate or third party. 

If you have any questions about your account, please contact Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC at: 

Portfolio Recovery Associates, LLC 
1-800-772-1413 
PO Box 12914 

Norfolk, VA 23541 

Sincerely, 

Capital One® 


I '" 
'" 

THIS LETTER IS FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A 
DEBT. 

© 2016 Capital One. One is a federally registered service mark. All rights reserved. 

IFM\RE0090/MAIL:Y/CD001120/P:AP/O:N/ECN/EM:OOO\PG-317207/QA-158604 
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PRAOO1E-O110-817089163-00689-689 

Ini'~ lillillJanuary 10, 2017 
Account Number: 4862368809673981 www.portfoliorecovery.com 
SELLER: CAPITAL ONE BANK (USA) N.A. 
ORIGINAL CREDITOR: CAPITAL ONE BANK (USA) N.A. 
Current Creditor: PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC Balance: $1,234.23 

The purpose of this letter is to advise you that PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC purchased the account 
referenced above on 12/20/2016. If you have any questions concerning this account, please direct all future communications 
to us at the address below: 

PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC 
P.O. Box 12914 

Norfolk, VA 23541 

Call our toll free number 1-800-772-1413 to discuss your account. 

Hours of Operation (EST): 8 AM to 11 PM Mon.-Fri., 8 AM to 8 PM Sat., 11 AM to 10 PM Sun. 

-

We're also available bye-mail athelp@portfoliorecovery.com. 

PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC 

PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC purchased this account on 12120/2016. Unless you notify this office within 30 
days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or any portion thereof, this office will assume this debt 
is valid. If you notify this office in writing within 30 days from receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of this debt or 
any portion thereof, this office will obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a copy of such 
judgment or verification. If you request this office in writing within 30 days after receiving this notice, this office will provide you 
with the name and address of the original creditor if different from the current creditor. 

This communication is from a debt collector, but is not an attempt to collect a debt. 

Notice: See Reverse Side for Important Information 

DEPT 922 2161015017018 

PO BOX4115 

CONCORD CA 94524 


111111111111111111111111111111111111111111 11111111111111111111111111111111111 1111111111111 

ADDRESS SERVICE REQUESTED 


#8WNFTZF #9222161015017018# 


1"1111111111111111 It 11111111111111111111111111111111111111111111 

SERGIO MAXIMILIANO 
6659 ALISO AVE 
WEST PALM BEACH FL 33413-1035 

Account Number: 4862368809673981 

001E 
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PRA001 E-011 0-817089163-00689-689 

COMPANY ADDRESS: PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC, 120 Corporate Boulevard, Norfolk, VA 23502 

DISPUTES CORRESPONDENCE ADDRESS: PORTFOLIO RECOVERY ASSOCIATES, LLC Disputes Department, 140 
Corporate Boulevard, Norfolk, VA 23502 
DISPUTES DEPARTMENT E-MAIL ADDRESS:PRA_Disputes@portfoliorecovery.com 

QUALITY SERVICE SPECIALISTS AVAILABLE Mon. - Fri. 8 AM to 5 PM (EST) 
Not happy with the way you were treated? Our company strives to provide professional and courteous service to all our 
customers. Contact one of our staff to discuss issues related to our quality of service to you by phone at (866) 925-7109 
or bye-mail atqualityservice@portfoliorecovery.com. 

PRIVACY NOTICE: We coliect certain personal information about you from the following sources: (a) information we 
received from you; (b) information about your transactions with our affiliates, others, or us; (c) information we receive from 
consumer reporting agencies. We do not disclose any nonpublic personal information about our customers or former 
customers to anyone, except as permitted by law. We restrict access to nonpublic information about you to those 
employees and entities that need to know that information in order to collect your account. We maintain physical, electronic 
and procedural safeguards that comply with federal regulations to guard your nonpublic personal information. 
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Portfolio Recovery Associates Facing FDCPA Lawsuit

https://www.classaction.org/news/portfolio-recovery-associates-facing-fdcpa-lawsuit

